

CREDIT ASSESSMENT PROCESS: Scale, Definitions, and Process

Document information

Document owner: Rating & Research Division

Applicable to: R&R staff
Effective Date: October 2024
Document version: 1st Issuance

Contents

ntroduction to Credit Assessments	3
Credit Assessment Scale and Definitions	4
Credit Assessment Process	5
Part A: Business Development Division finalizes Credit Assessment contracts with Requestors	5
Step 1. Initiating a Credit Assessment Relationship with VIS Rating	5
Part B: Working Process for Analysts – Prior to Convening a Credit Assessment Committee	7
Step 2. Assignment of Analysts and Conflict of Interest Certification	7
Step 3. Gathering Information	7
Step 4. Management Meeting with Analytical Team	8
Step 5. Analytical Team Commences Analysis/ Information Used in the Credit Assessment Proce Analysis and Documentation	
Part C: Working Process for Credit Assessment Committees	11
Step 6. Convene a Credit Assessment Committee to Assign Assessment(s)	11
Part D: Working Process of Analyst – Post-Credit Assessment Committee	17
Step 7. Informing the Credit Assessment Outcome	17
Step 8. Monitoring Credit Assessments	17
Glossary of Defined Terms	19

Introduction to Credit Assessments

A Credit Assessment is a confidential and unpublished opinion of the relative credit risks of either an entity ("Requested Entity") or a proposed debt instrument of a Requested Entity contemplating such a debt issuance at some future date.

Credit Assessments can be either monitored on an ongoing basis or provided as a point-in-time assessment based on the requestor's requirements. The assessment results are communicated privately to the requestor and for limited use within the terms of the agreement between Vietnam Investors Service and Credit Rating Agency Joint Stock Company ("VIS Rating") and the requestor.

Credit Assessments are not equivalent to and do not represent VIS Rating's Credit Ratings. As such, Credit Assessments are expressed on a different assessment scale compared with VIS Rating's rating scale.

This document is a proprietary and confidential compilation of the Credit Assessment Scale and Definitions, and Credit Assessment Process for Analysts and Credit Assessment Committees. It is not meant to replace or supersede any information contained in various VIS Rating Internal Policies & Procedures.

Each VIS Rating Employee is responsible for complying with VIS Rating Internal Policies and Procedures, and the laws, regulations and rules applicable to VIS Rating. Should you find anything in this document that appears to conflict with any of the above, please follow the information in those documents and immediately contact the Legal & Compliance Division.

The capitalized terms used in this document are defined in the Glossary of Defined Terms at the end of the document.

The below exhibit provides an overview of the steps involved in our Credit Assessment Process, which will typically take 4-8 weeks. The latter sections describe and explain Steps 1-8 covering the work processes of Analysts and Credit Assessment Committees.

Exhibit 1: Credit Assessment Process

S

S

STEP 1	Initiating a Credit Assessment Relationship with VIS Rating All customer requests including negotiation, finalization, and execution of Credit Assessment contracts are handled and managed exclusively by the Business Development Division. Personnel in the Analytical Team must not be involved.	STEP 5	Analytical Team commences analysis/ Information Used in the Credit Assessment Process, Analysis, and Documentation The Analytical Team assembles relevant information provided by Requested Entity if applicable, from public or other sources; assesses sufficiency and quality of information; analyzes qualitative and quantitative considerations based on selected credit assessment analytical frameworks.
STEP 2	Assignment of Analysts and Conflict of Interest Certification Once the credit assessment application is executed, the Analytical Team including the Lead Analyst is assigned. All assigned analytical team members must confirm that they are free from conflicts of interest before conducting any analytical work.	STEP 6	Convene a Credit Assessment Committee to Assign Assessment(s) The Credit Assessment Committee is a key part of VIS Rating's analytical process and helps ensure credit assessments' integrity and consistency. It reviews, votes, and assigns the credit assessment score.

STEP 3 Gathering Information The Analytical Team will gather publicly available information for credit assessments. STEP 7 Informing the Credit Assessment Outcome The Requestor reviews the draft credit assessment summary. The outcome is then delivered and communicated privately to the Requestor.

STEP 4 Management Meeting with Analytical Team
In cases where the requestor has requested that credit assessments to be completed solely based on publicly available information, the Analytical Team will commence with the analysis by gathering publicly available information.

STEP 8 Monitoring Credit Assessments

Surveillance and dialogue with requestors is maintained only for ongoing monitoring requests to ensure timely and relevant credit assessments. This step does not apply to point-in-time assessments of selected companies as instructed by the requestor.

Credit Assessment Scale and Definitions

What is a Credit Assessment?

A Credit Assessment assigned on the Credit Assessment scale of VIS Rating is a forward-looking opinion of the relative credit risks of a Requested Entity or a proposed debt instrument by a Requested Entity contemplating such a debt issuance at some future date.

A credit assessment of VIS Rating addresses the Requested Entity's ability to obtain sufficient cash to service its debt obligation, and its willingness to pay. VIS Rating defines credit risk as the risk that a Requested Entity may not meet its contractual financial obligations as they come due and financial losses may arise in the event of default or impairment. In some cases, credit risk may relate to a party other than the debt issuer, e.g., a guarantor.

Credit Assessment Scale and Definitions

Credit assessments of VIS Rating are opinions of the relative creditworthiness of Requested Entities or debt instruments with an original maturity of one year or more within Vietnam. There are eight categories on our credit assessment scale, as defined below.

Very Strong	Requested Entities or debt instruments demonstrate the strongest creditworthiness relative to other domestic entities and transactions.				
Strong	Requested Entities or debt instruments demonstrate very strong creditworthiness relative other domestic entities and transactions.				
Above Average	Requested Entities or debt instruments demonstrate above-average creditworthiness relative to other domestic entities and transactions.				
Average	Requested Entities or debt instruments demonstrate average creditworthiness relative to other domestic entities and transactions.				
Below- Average	Requested Entities or debt instruments demonstrate below-average creditworthiness relative to other domestic entities and transactions.				
Weak	Requested Entities or debt instruments demonstrate weak creditworthiness relative to oth domestic entities and transactions and may be approaching default, with strong recovery prospects.				
Very Weak	Requested Entities or debt instruments demonstrate very weak creditworthiness relative to other domestic entities and transactions and are likely in or near default, typically with moderate recovery prospects.				
Extremely	Requested Entities or debt instruments demonstrate extremely weak creditworthiness relative to other domestic entities and transactions and are typically in default, typically with poor recovery prospects.				
Weak	Requested Entities or debt instruments demonstrate the weakest creditworthiness relative to other domestic entities and transactions and are typically in default, with very poor recovery prospects.				

Credit Assessment Process

Part A: Business Development Division finalizes Credit Assessment contracts with Requestors

Step 1. Initiating a Credit Assessment Relationship with VIS Rating

A credit assessment relationship is generally initiated when a customer requests a Credit Assessment from VIS Rating. The customer can request a credit assessment of itself ("Requestor") or a third-party entity ("Requested Entity'). All requests should be handled and managed exclusively by the Business Development Division.

The Business Development Division will engage the Requestor to discuss the scope of Credit Assessment services required and the contractual terms of the Credit Assessment contract. The negotiation, finalization, and execution of the Credit Assessment contract should be handled exclusively by the Business Development Division but without prejudice to the advising role of Legal & Compliance Division.

The Credit Assessment contract typically covers the following provisions, among others: (i) basic information of the contracting parties; (ii) scope, purpose and details of Credit Assessments covered by the contract; (iii) term of the Credit Assessment contract; (iv) terms and conditions for the Credit Assessment deliverables; (v) monitoring, periodic review and update of Credit Assessments, if any; (vi) service fees; (vii) early termination of contract and responsibilities of the contracting parties; (viii) rights and obligations of the contracting parties, including to maintain confidentiality; and (ix) dispute resolution.

The Business Development Division and the Requestor will sign a Credit Assessment contract to initiate the Credit Assessment Process.

Separation of Credit Assessment Personnel from Commercial Activities

VIS Rating requires a separation between Credit Assessment Personnel and commercial activities. In general,

- a. Negotiation and execution of Credit Assessment contracts, Fee Discussions should be handled exclusively by the Business Development Division (without prejudice to support of Legal & Compliance Division for reviewing legal terms and aspects of the Credit Rating contracts).
- b. VIS Rating Employees in the Business Development Division must not participate in determining or monitoring Credit Assessments or developing or approving procedures or

analytical frameworks for determining Credit Assessments. In addition, Credit Assessment Personnel must not be involved in the process of negotiation and execution of Credit Assessment contracts and Fee Discussions and should not have access to any fee-related information.

- c. Participation in Fee Discussions precludes the Credit Assessment Personnel from participating in the determination of the Credit Assessment for a particular Credit Assessment contract.
- d. Credit Assessment Personnel involved in any commercial activity or being aware of any feerelated information must immediately contact Legal & Compliance Division.

Part B: Working Process for Analysts – Prior to Convening a Credit Assessment Committee

Step 2. Assignment of Analysts and Conflict of Interest Certification

Assignment of Analysts - Conflict of Interest Certification

At the start of every Credit Assessment Process, the Head of Ratings & Research determines the assignment of an analytical team (including the number of analysts) to support the work processes and tasks and appoints a Lead Analyst (if one has not already been assigned) for the Requested Entity to be assessed and any related parties to the transaction.

Before conducting any related analytical work or involving themselves in any Credit Assessment Process, the Lead Analyst and any others assigned to work with the Lead Analyst should consult VIS Rating Code of Professional Conduct (the "Code") which discusses regulatory requirements and VIS Rating internal controls for any actual, potential or perceived conflict of interests. In case of any conflict of interests, the involved analyst(s) must be released from the Credit Assessment Process and the Head of Ratings & Research may assign other analyst(s) that are free from conflicts as replacement.

Step 3. Gathering Information

Gathering Information of Requested Entity or the Debt Instrument

Unless otherwise instructed by the Requestor, the analytical team will gather publicly available information for credit assessments.

If and when the Requestor provides data and information on the Requested Entity and/or facilitates a meeting between the management team of the Requested Entity and the analytical team, the Lead Analyst and the assigned analytical team will introduce the Credit Assessment analytical framework and process to the Requestor and/or the Requested Entity.

The information and data include financial and non-financial information and data on the Requestor's or Requested Entity's operating performance, business and financing plans, risk management, internal policies, etc. that are required for both quantitative and qualitative credit analysis. Such information may be confidential or non-public information required to supplement information released by the company publicly.

Treatment of Confidential Information and Non-Public Information

VIS Rating Employees who have access to Confidential Information or Non-public Information should consult the Code which defines and discusses the handling of Confidential Information and Non-public Information.

Step 4. Management Meeting with Analytical Team

In cases where the requestor has requested that credit assessments to be completed solely based on publicly available information, the Analytical Team will commence the analysis by gathering publicly available information.

Step 5. Analytical Team Commences Analysis/ Information Used in the Credit Assessment Process, Analysis and Documentation

Gathering of Information

The Lead Analyst and any others assigned to work with the Lead Analyst begin the credit analysis by assembling relevant information on the Requested Entity or debt instrument. This information may come from public sources, the Requested Entity or other sources (for example, periodic data gathered and stored in VIS Rating database). The Lead Analyst's work at this stage includes searching for and reviewing relevant internal as well as external research, analyzing comparable existing entities or transactions, researching and analyzing the key transaction parties, and analyzing historic performance for the given Requested Entity, obligation, or asset and similar asset classes.

Quality of Information

VIS Rating only assigns a Credit Assessment where it believes it has sufficient information and analytical expertise to do so. VIS Rating uses reasonable measures so that the information it uses in assigning a Credit Assessment is of sufficient quality to support a credible Credit Assessment. Thus, the Credit Assessment Committee must assess whether or not there is sufficient information to assign a Credit Assessment. VIS Rating is not obliged to perform and does not perform audits or due diligence with respect to the accuracy of information received or obtained in connection with the Credit Assessment Process.

VIS Rating relies on publicly available information provided to the securities markets and to VIS Rating or Requested Entity's good faith to provide the required information, including management estimates and assumptions to VIS Rating.

If, however, the Lead Analyst or the Credit Assessment Committee believes it has inadequate or unreliable information or will not have adequate or reliable information in the future, to provide an informed Credit Assessment on the Requested Entity, VIS Rating will either refrain from assigning a Credit Assessment or communicate the limitation of adequate or reliable information clearly in the Credit Assessment Process.

Determining the Adequacy of Information

When a first-time Credit Assessment is assigned, the Credit Assessment Committee determines if the information available to VIS Rating is sufficient to provide a Credit Assessment. When monitoring an existing Credit Assessment on an ongoing basis, where there are significant concerns about the sufficiency of information, a Credit Assessment Committee will be convened to determine if the information available to VIS Rating is sufficient to maintain a Credit Assessment.

Assessing the Adequacy of Information

VIS Rating will typically request three years of audited financial information to assign a first-time Credit Assessment to a Requested Entity or debt instrument. VIS Rating will also request information that provides additional explanation of the financial statements. VIS Rating may also seek to obtain other available information that could be useful in assessing the Requested Entity's business and market position and other factors that may be relevant to credit risk, such as liquidity. The information may include third-party information and regulatory filings. In some circumstances, where three years of audited financial information may not be available publicly or not provided by the Requested Entity as instructed by the Requestor, VIS Rating will consider the specifics of each individual situation in evaluating the materiality of missing, limited, or unaudited information.

The Analysis

Having gathered the relevant information, the Lead Analyst will assess the creditworthiness of a Requested Entity or debt instrument. The analytical process typically includes consideration of both quantitative and qualitative factors. When using or presenting quantitative information, Analysts should observe the following guidelines, which establish a minimum level of quality assurance:

- For quantitative tools requiring verification, the Lead Analyst should confirm and clearly state in the Credit Assessment Committee memo that the version used for the Credit Assessment Committee is the current, verified version. If there are outstanding unresolved error corrections in progress, the Lead Analyst should discuss with the Head of Ratings & Research if and how the quantitative tool can be used.
- Credit Assessment Committee memos, including tables, model outputs, and graphs, should include appropriate labels/references to identify the sources for quantitative information. This is particularly important for non-public quantitative information obtained from Requested Entity if applicable, quantitative information purchased from third-party data providers, and other situations where the source of the quantitative data would not otherwise be clearly evident to the Credit Assessment Committee members.

The relevant Analyst has the following responsibilities:

- Review data for reasonableness and completeness;
- Confirm that data was properly inputted into quantitative tools; and
- Review initial results from the quantitative tools for the reasonableness of the outcome given the input data.

Where feasible, the completed quantitative tool(s) with results should be filed as part of the record in the applicable record retention database for a given Credit Assessment. In cases where it is not feasible to file completed quantitative tool(s) because of IT restrictions, inputs, outputs, appropriate version number(s) and appropriate parameters should be filed as part of the record in the applicable record retention database for a given Credit Assessment.

Any concerns about the functionality or results generated from a given quantitative tool should be reported immediately to the Head of Ratings & Research.

Documentation and Record Retention

VIS Rating maintains a record retention framework designed to fulfill its requirements for record retention. Relevant VIS Rating Internal Policies and Procedures cover the detailed set of record retention requirements. In general, VIS Rating will archive both hard copies and electronic copies of all vital records and other business records for each Credit Assessment for a period as required by VIS Rating Internal Policies and Procedures.

Part C: Working Process for Credit Assessment Committees

Step 6. Convene a Credit Assessment Committee to Assign Assessment(s)

What is a Credit Assessment Committee?

The Credit Assessment Committee is a critical mechanism for promoting the quality, consistency and integrity of Credit Assessment Process of VIS Rating. For each Credit Assessment contract, a Credit Assessment Committee is convened to determine and approve a Credit Assessment on an entity or debt instrument. A Credit Assessment Committee generally commences when the Lead Analyst presents a memo that includes a Credit Assessment recommendation and seeks the Credit Assessment Committee's approval for that recommendation with the express intention of assigning, affirming, changing, or withdrawing a Credit Assessment.

Core Principles

i. Collaboration

Credit Assessments of VIS Rating are determined by Credit Assessment Committees, not by any individual Analyst. The Credit Assessment Committee is central to the Credit Assessment Process of VIS Rating and is designed to foster a free exchange of views among members, with full consideration of dissenting or controversial views. The composition of a Credit Assessment Committee is selected for expertise and for its potential for diversity of opinion, and decisions are reached through a majority (i.e. over 60%) of the votes.

ii. Independence

VIS Rating expects each Credit Assessment Committee member to apply independent judgment in the decision-making process. Ultimately, Credit Assessments are subjective opinions that reflect the majority view of the Credit Assessment Committee's voting members.

iii. Confidentiality

The composition of a Credit Assessment Committee (including the names and titles of members), the deliberations and the specific voting results are confidential, privy only to those internal parties at VIS Rating who have a need to know the information. The attribution of Credit Assessment Committee's votes to Committee members should not be reflected in any VIS Rating system, or any other documentation relating to a Credit Assessment.

iv. Consistency

Credit Assessment Committees are to be conducted in a manner consistent with internally and externally communicated Credit Assessment policies, procedures, practices.

v. Compliance

Any concerns about the Credit Assessment Committee or the conduct of its members should be conveyed to Head of Ratings & Research and VIS Rating Legal & Compliance Division.

Convening a Credit Assessment Committee

When to Convene a Credit Assessment Committee/Who May Convene It

With respect to each Credit Assessment contract, a Credit Assessment Committee must be convened (i) to assign a first-time Credit Assessment to an entity or a new assessment to a debt instrument of the Requested Party, or (ii) when the Lead Analyst or the Head of Ratings & Research believes that a Credit Assessment Committee should be held.

The Lead Analyst is responsible (either independently or in consultation with Head of Ratings & Research) for initiating a Credit Assessment Committee when he/she considers it appropriate. Informal discussions around the desirability and timing of future Committees among Analysts and the Head of Ratings & Research are continuous and need not be formally documented. If, however, after discussion and consideration, the Lead Analyst or the Head of Ratings & Research believes a Credit Assessment Committee should be held, a Credit Assessment Committee must be convened within a reasonable period of time.

A discussion should be held in advance of any Credit Assessment Committee with the potential to involve particularly complex issues, whenever possible. The purpose of the advance discussion is to help identify the main issues and the key information and areas of analysis that should be prepared by the Lead Analyst to address these issues. When a Credit Assessment Committee is called on very short notice to respond to news or events, there may not be sufficient time to arrange an advance discussion.

Credit Assessment Committee Composition

The composition of a Credit Assessment Committee depends on the complexity of the issues likely to be considered and will be approved by the Head of Ratings & Research.

The Lead Analyst (or an Analyst acting on behalf of the Lead Analyst in cases where the Lead Analyst is not available) for the Entity is responsible for presenting the assessment recommendation and rationale to the Credit Assessment Committee and addressing questions from the Committee. Only Credit Assessment Committee members have voting privileges.

The Credit Assessment Committee Chair

i. Eligibility to Serve as Credit Assessment Committee Chair

All Credit Assessment Committees must be chaired by a Credit Assessment Committee Chair (the "Chair") who should have appropriate experience in credit analysis. Generally, VIS Rating Employees who are eligible to serve as Chairs are the Head of Ratings & Research and Senior Analysts. In most cases, the Head of Ratings & Research will serve as the Chair. When a Senior Analyst is assigned to be the Chair, the Senior Analyst serving as the Chair must receive approval from the Head of Ratings & Research prior to the commencement of the Credit Assessment Committee meeting.

ii. The Role of the Credit Assessment Committee Chair

The role of the Chair is to moderate the Credit Assessment Committee. In assuming this role, the Chair encourages broad-based participation from all Committee members regardless of seniority, and the expression of dissenting views.

The Chair is responsible for ensuring that the Credit Assessment Committee uses the appropriate credit assessment analytical frameworks and applies them in a consistent manner.

iii. Determination of Breadth and Depth of Experience

The Chair should determine at the outset of the Credit Assessment Committee that the Credit Assessment Committee composition reflects an appropriate combination of breadth and depth of experience.

iv. Prohibited Conflict of Interest

Before the assigned Credit Assessment Committee members can receive information and materials related to the determination of a Credit Assessment, they must confirm and certify that they have no conflicts of interest. Only those who have completed the certification are permitted to participate in the Credit Assessment Committee meeting.

If, at any time during the Credit Assessment Process, the assigned Credit Assessment Committee members become subject to an actual or potential conflict of interest and would not be eligible to participate in the Credit Assessment Process, the affected individual(s) must: (i) immediately cease participating in the Credit Assessment Process, (ii) immediately notify the Lead Analyst, Chair, Head of Ratings & Research and Head of Legal & Compliance of this change, and (iii) promptly report or update such conflict information in the Records of VIS Rating.

The Chair should replace recused members with other eligible members who are free from conflicts and ensure there is a quorum before the Committee meeting begins.

Voting

i. Voting Eligibility

At the outset of each Credit Assessment Committee, the Chair will use his/her best judgment to establish which of the Credit Assessment Committee members who are eligible to vote will serve as voting members on that specific Committee. Credit Assessment Committee members who are generally eligible to vote are the following VIS Rating Employees: the Head of Ratings & Research and Senior Analysts.

ii. Voting Process

After a full discussion of the issues, during which all members have been given an opportunity to express their views, each voting member will be asked to vote. Each voting member is entitled to one vote, with all votes carrying equal weight. The Chair is responsible for making sure that the vote is tallied and announced to the Credit Assessment Committee members.

The Credit Assessment Committee must conclude a decision by at least 60% of the vote. The Chair is responsible for attempting to achieve consensus among the Credit Assessment Committee members. However, consensus may not always be possible; in which case the Lead Analyst and the Chair should strive to reach a compromise position that will have the support of at least over 60% of the Credit Assessment Committee members. If this is not possible, the Lead Analyst or the Chair must reconvene the Credit Assessment Committee and invite the Head of Ratings & Research, or his/her voting eligible delegate. Efforts should be made to reconvene the Credit Assessment Committee as soon as possible and to retain all voting members of the original Committee. If it is not possible to retain all voting members from the original Credit Assessment Committee, the Chair may reconvene the Committee with a sub-group of the original voting members that is representative of the original vote, or invite new members to replace the voting members from the original Committee who are not able to attend.

Credit Assessment Committee Documentation

i. Credit Assessment Committee Package

For each Credit Assessment Committee, the Lead Analyst must prepare a Credit Assessment Committee package. The Credit Assessment Committee package must document the Lead Analyst's Credit Assessment recommendation and the rationale for it. Generally, the Credit Assessment Committee package includes the Lead Analyst's credit analysis of the Entity or debt instrument and the specifics of the Entity or debt instrument to be assessed. The Lead Analyst must retain the Credit Assessment Committee package in both hard copies and electronic copies for a period as required by VIS Rating Internal Policies and Procedures.

ii. Documenting Credit Assessment Committee Outcomes

The Lead Analyst must record in the appropriate document management system for VIS Rating (i) the outcome of the Credit Assessment Committee, (ii) the voting eligibility of all the Credit

Assessment Committee members and whether they voted and (iii) any material deviations between the Lead Analyst's initial Credit Assessment recommendation and rationale and the outcome of the Credit Assessment Committee.

Credit Assessment Committee Suspensions and Informing of Credit Assessment Results

i. Process for Credit Assessment Committee Suspensions

Once a Credit Assessment Committee convenes, the Chair should aim to reach a timely conclusion, provided it has the appropriate participation, has had the benefit of a thorough discussion, and has access to all available and relevant information.

Once a Credit Assessment Committee convenes, the Chair may suspend the proceedings only if he or she believes that the Committee requires further discussion, additional information, or broader participation, to make a properly informed credit decision or the Credit Assessment analytical frameworks used are not appropriate.

ii. Informing of Credit Assessment Results

Once a Credit Assessment Committee concludes with a Credit Assessment outcome, the Lead Analyst (or an Analyst acting on behalf of the Lead Analyst in cases where the Lead Analyst is unavailable) will communicate the Credit Assessment results privately to the Requestor.

Appealing a Credit Assessment Committee Decision

i. External Appeals

There may be instances in which the Requestor has new or additional information that was not available or considered by the Credit Assessment Committee in reaching its not-yet-published Credit Assessment decision. The Requestor may request that VIS Rating reconsider its Credit Assessment decision based on this new or additional information.

If the Chair and Head of Ratings & Research, in consultation with the Lead Analyst, believes that the new information might reasonably lead the Credit Assessment Committee to draw a different assessment conclusion, the Credit Assessment Committee will be reconvened as quickly as possible to consider the impact of the information on the Credit Assessment. The Chair and the Head of Ratings & Research should determine the appropriate composition for the reconvened Credit Assessment Committee, which may be comprised of the same members as the initial Committee.

Disagreement by the Requestor with the outcome of a Credit Assessment Committee is not a valid basis for an appeal. The appeal process is available only when the Requestor can promptly provide VIS Rating with material information not previously available or considered that VIS Rating believes is relevant to its credit assessment.

ii. Internal Appeals

Before a Credit Assessment decision is officially communicated to the Requestor, a formal appeal of the Credit Assessment Committee's decision may be requested.

The person requesting an internal appeal should send an e-mail either to the Chair or the Head of Ratings & Research, with a copy to the Lead Analyst if he/she is not the sender, stating the basis for the request of the internal appeal. The Head of Ratings & Research has the discretion to approve or deny this request.

If the request for an internal appeal is approved, the Head of Ratings & Research granting the appeal should determine the Credit Assessment Committee composition. The basis for the appeal may be considered by the Head of Ratings & Research to determine whether the composition of the reconvened Committee should differ from the composition of the initial one.

Part D: Working Process of Analyst – Post-Credit Assessment Committee

Step 7. Informing the Credit Assessment Outcome

Informing the Requestor of the Credit Assessment Decision

After the establishment of the Credit Assessment Committee, and prior to the issuance of the Credit Assessment Summary, the Lead Analyst should provide a draft Credit Assessment Summary to the Requestor, which includes the principal grounds on which the Credit Assessment is based. All communications with the Requestor communicating the Credit Assessment outcome and/or the draft Credit Assessment Summary should make clear that the information is confidential and may not be shared with anyone else.

The Lead Analyst should also inform the Requestor that the Requestor will only have a very limited amount of time for such review and the Lead Analyst should ask the Requestor in advance of a Credit Assessment Committee to identify a contact or contacts who can promptly review the Credit Assessment Summary. Although Credit Assessment Summary may be provided to Requestor for such review, VIS Rating retains ultimate editorial control over the form and content of all of its publications. As a result, Analysts may not accept changes from the Requestor that would alter the meaning or tone of VIS Rating opinion, except where such changes are necessary to correct factual errors or prevent the inclusion of confidential information.

VIS Rating will communicate the assessment results privately to the Requestor only.

Step 8. Monitoring Credit Assessments

Ongoing Monitoring of Credit Assessments

This step will not apply to credit assessments on selected companies provided as a point-in-time assessment as instructed by the Requestor.

For credit assessments with ongoing monitoring requests, VIS Rating will monitor outstanding Credit Assessments continuously until withdrawal. When monitoring Credit Assessments, the Lead Analyst should consider all available information and formulate a view as to whether a Credit Assessment should be reconsidered for a Credit Assessment Committee meeting. The Lead Analyst should assess any new information that becomes available for materiality and, if she or he believes that the information could be material to the Credit Assessment, convene a Credit Assessment Committee to assess its implications.

Withdrawing Credit Assessments

VIS Rating may withdraw a Credit Assessment when instructed by the Requestor that it no longer requires credit assessment.

In addition, VIS may withdraw a Credit Assessment for any of the following reasons: (1) incorrect, insufficient or otherwise inadequate information; (2) bankruptcy, liquidation, debt restructuring of a Requested Entity or the issuer of debt instrument; (3) reorganization of a Requested Entity or the issuer of debt instrument.

Glossary of Defined Terms

Analyst

An Analyst is any VIS Rating Employee assigned to a credit assessment team with the title of Associate Analyst or higher satisfying the regulatory requirements and other relevant VIS Rating Internal Policies and Procedures whose function is to (a) assign or monitor Credit Assessment and, if applicable, the related Outlook or Review, (b) assist in drafting materials or developing deal specific models being considered for Credit Assessment Committees, or (c) supervise VIS Rating Employees included in (a) or (b) of this definition. The definition of Analyst excludes any VIS Rating Employee assigned to an analytical team who: (1) is not involved in the Credit Assessment Process or (2) supports the Credit Assessment Process solely through administrative tasks, such as entering information into internal systems.

Confidential Information

Confidential Information is any information received by VIS Rating from the Requested Entity under Credit Assessment, its affiliates or its agents in connection with the Credit Assessment Process or in connection with providing ancillary services or other permissible services in respect of which VIS Rating has received written notice specifically indicating the proprietary and confidential nature of the information. However, the term "Confidential Information" shall not include:

- a. information that is publicly known.
- b. information available to VIS Rating on a non-confidential basis prior to disclosure by the Requested Entity, its affiliates or its agents.
- c. information that becomes available to VIS Rating on a non-confidential basis from a third party not reasonably known by VIS Rating to be bound by a confidentiality agreement with the Requested Entity or otherwise prohibited from making available such information.
- d. information developed independently by VIS Rating.
- e. information that has been aggregated or transformed in such a way that it is no longer identified as relating to any individual Requested Entity.
- f. information that is approved for public disclosure in writing by the Requested Entity, its affiliates or its agents; or
- g. information that is required to be disclosed by applicable laws or by a valid decision of a competent state agency, regulator, court or arbitration.

Credit Assessment

A Credit Assessment is a confidential and unpublished opinion of the relative credit risks of a Requested Entity or a proposed debt instrument by a Requested Entity contemplating such a debt issuance at some future date. Credit Assessments can be either monitored on an ongoing basis or provided as a point-in-time assessment based on the requestor's requirements. The assessment results are communicated privately to the requestor and for limited use within the terms of the agreement between VIS Rating and the requestor.

Credit Assessment Summary

A Credit Assessment Summary is a written communication that may be used to convey the rationale and key drivers of a Credit Assessment of an Entity or debt instrument to a Requestor.

Credit Assessment Committee Chair or Chair

A Credit Assessment Committee Chair or Chair is a VIS Rating Employee who is authorized to serve as the Chair of a Credit Assessment Committee.

Credit Assessment Analytical Frameworks

Credit Assessment Analytical Frameworks are used by VIS Rating's Credit Assessment Committees to assign Credit Assessment. They set out the key analytical factors which VIS Rating believes are the most important determinants of credit risk for the relevant sector. Credit Assessment Analytical Frameworks are not exhaustive treatments of all factors reflected in ratings of VIS Rating; they simply set out the key qualitative and quantitative considerations used by VIS Rating in determining credit assessments.

Credit Assessment Personnel

Credit Assessment Personnel are 1) Analysts, 2) Managers of Analysts, 3) any other VIS Rating Employees who are involved in the development or approval of procedures or analytical frameworks used in providing Credit Assessment services, ancillary services or other permissible services (as further explained in the definition of Fee Discussions below), and 4) any other VIS Rating Employee that participates in a Credit Assessment Committee. The definition of Credit Assessment Personnel excludes any VIS Rating Employee assigned to an analytical team who: (1) is not involved in the Credit Assessment Process or (2) supports the Credit Assessment Process solely through administrative tasks, such as entering information into internal systems.

Fee Discussions

Fee Discussions are any negotiations about fees for Credit Assessment services and any discussions or correspondence (whether internal or external) relating to those negotiations. For the purposes of the fee discussion, Credit Assessment services mean any or all of the following: Credit Assessment services, ancillary services and/or other permissible services in which:

- i. Credit Assessment services are those products and services offered with respect to Credit Assessments and, if applicable, the related Outlook or Review. Credit Assessment services specifically exclude all ancillary services or other permissible services.
- ii. Ancillary services are those products and services that are not Credit Assessment services, and which may include market forecasts, estimates of economic trends, or other general data analysis as well as related distribution services.
- iii. Other permissible services are those products and services identified by VIS Rating, which are not Credit Assessment services or ancillary services.

Lead Analyst or Lead

A Lead Analyst, or Lead, is the VIS Rating Employee who is currently assigned the primary responsibility for assigning or monitoring a given Credit Assessment or Credit Assessment and, if applicable, the related Outlook or Review.

Outlook

Outlook is an opinion regarding the likely direction of a Requested Entity's Credit Assessment over the medium term.

Records

The term Records refers to all information relating to Credit Assessment that has been memorialized in any written, electronic or other recorded format, including but not limited to: (i) correspondence, presentation materials, handwritten notes, charts, notebooks, and other similar paper materials; (ii) information stored on a computer or other means of recording any form of information or communication, such as email messages and their attachments; and (iii) any of the foregoing wherever they are located, including files kept at a VIS rating Employee's home or other premises. Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless otherwise specified in the relevant VIS Rating Internal Policies and Procedures, there is no requirement that the responsible party must maintain voice recordings, voicemail messages or recordings of video conferences.

Requestor(s)

A Requestor refers to any customer that requests VIS Rating to provide credit assessment services.

Requested Entity(ies) or Entity(ies)

A Requested Entity refers to any entity where a customer requires VIS Rating to provide a credit assessment.

Review

A Review is an indication that a Credit Assessment is under consideration for a change in the near term.

Other capitalized terms used herein that are not listed under this Glossary shall be referred to the Glossary part of the Credit Rating Process.

CREDIT RATINGS ISSUED BY VIS RATING ARE OUR CURRENT OPINIONS OF THE RELATIVE FUTURE CREDIT RISK OF ENTITIES. DEBT OR FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS, DEBT SECURITIES, PREFERRED SHARES OR OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS OR OF ISSUER OF SUCH DEBTS OR FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS, DEBT SECURITIES, PREFERRED SHARES OR OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS IN VIETNAM AND MATERIALS, PRODUCTS, SERVICES AND INFORMATION PUBLISHED BY VIS RATING (COLLECTIVELY, "PUBLICATIONS") MAY INCLUDE SUCH CURRENT OPINIONS. VIS RATING DEFINES CREDIT RISK AS THE RISK THAT AN ENTITY MAY NOT MEET ITS CONTRACTUAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS AS THEY COME DUE AND ANY ESTIMATED FINANCIAL LOSS IN THE EVENT OF DEFAULT OR IMPAIRMENT. SEE APPLICABLE VIS RATING'S RATING SYMBOLS AND DEFINITIONS PUBLICATION FOR INFORMATION ON THE TYPES OF CONTRACTUAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS ADDRESSED BY VIS RATING'S CREDIT RATINGS. APART FROM FUNDAMENTAL RISKS NEEDED TO BE ASSESSED AS REQUIRED UNDER THE VIETNAMESE LAW (INCLUDING DECREE 88/2014 DATED 26 SEPTEMBER 2014 OF THE GOVERNMENT) ON CREDIT RATING SERVICES FROM TIME TO TIME, CREDIT RATINGS DO NOT ADDRESS ANY OTHER RISK, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO: LIQUIDITY RISK, MARKET VALUE RISK, OR PRICE VOLATILITY. CREDIT RATINGS, NON-CREDIT ASSESSMENTS ("ASSESSMENTS"), AND OTHER OPINIONS INCLUDED IN VIS RATING'S PUBLICATIONS ARE NOT STATEMENTS OF CURRENT OR HISTORICAL FACT. VIS RATING'S CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS, OTHER OPINIONS AND PUBLICATIONS ARE FOR REFERENCES ONLY AND DO NOT CONSTITUTE OR PROVIDE INVESTMENT OR FINANCIAL ADVICE, AND VIS RATING'S CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS, OTHER OPINIONS AND PUBLICATIONS ARE NOT AND DO NOT PROVIDE RECOMMENDATIONS TO INVEST INTO, CONTRIBUTE CAPITAL, PURCHASE, SELL, OR HOLD PARTICULAR DEBT INSTRUMENTS OR FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS. VIS RATING'S CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS, OTHER OPINIONS AND PUBLICATIONS DO NOT COMMENT ON THE SUITABILITY OF AN INVESTMENT FOR ANY PARTICULAR INVESTOR. VIS RATING ISSUES ITS CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS AND OTHER OPINIONS AND PUBLISHES ITS PUBLICATIONS WITH THE EXPECTATION AND UNDERSTANDING THAT EACH INVESTOR WILL, WITH DUE CARE, MAKE ITS OWN STUDY AND EVALUATION OF EACH SECURITY OR DEBT INSTRUMENTS THAT IS UNDER CONSIDERATION FOR PURCHASE, HOLDING, OR SALE

VIS RATING'S CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS, OTHER OPINIONS, AND PUBLICATIONS ARE NOT INTENDED FOR USE BY NON-PROFESSIONAL INVESTORS AND IT WOULD BE RECKLESS AND INAPPROPRIATE FOR NON-PROFESSIONAL INVESTORS TO USE VIS RATING'S CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS, OTHER OPINIONS OR PUBLICATIONS WHEN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION. IF IN DOUBT YOU SHOULD CONTACT YOUR FINANCIAL OR OTHER PROFESSIONAL ADVISER.

ALL INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN (INCLUDING INFORMATION OF VIS RATING AND/OR THIRD PARTIES WHO LICENSE VIS RATING TO INCORPORATE THE INFORMATION HEREIN ("VIS RATING'S LICENSORS")) IS PROTECTED BY LAW, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, COPYRIGHT LAW, AND NONE OF SUCH INFORMATION MAY BE COPIED OR OTHERWISE REPRODUCED, REPACKAGED, FURTHER TRANSMITTED, TRANSFERRED, DISSEMINATED, REDISTRIBUTED OR RESOLD, OR STORED FOR SUBSEQUENT USE FOR ANY SUCH PURPOSE, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, IN ANY FORM OR MANNER OR BY ANY MEANS WHATSOEVER, BY ANY PERSON WITHOUT PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF VIS RATING OR VIS RATING'S LICENSORS. VIS RATING'S CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS, OTHER OPINIONS AND PUBLICATIONS ARE NOT INTENDED FOR USE BY ANY PERSON AS A BENCHMARK AS THAT TERM IS DEFINED FOR REGULATORY PURPOSES AND MUST NOT BE USED IN ANY WAY THAT COULD RESULT IN THEM BEING CONSIDERED A BENCHMARK.

All information contained herein is obtained by VIS Rating from sources believed by it to be accurate and reliable. Because of the possibility of human or mechanical error as well as other factors, however, all information contained herein is provided "AS IS" without warranty of any kind. VIS Rating adopts all necessary measures so that the information it uses in assigning a credit rating is of sufficient quality and from sources VIS Rating considers to be reliable including, when appropriate, independent third-party sources. However, VIS Rating is not an auditor and cannot in every instance independently verify or validate information received in the rating process or in preparing its Publications.

To the extent permitted by law, VIS Rating and its directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, licensors and suppliers disclaim liability to any person or entity for any indirect, special, consequential, or incidental losses or damages whatsoever arising from or in connection with the information contained herein or the use of or inability to use any such information, even if VIS Rating or any of its directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, licensors or suppliers is advised in advance of the possibility of such losses or damages, including but not limited to (a) any loss of present or prospective profits or (b) any loss or damage arising where the relevant financial instrument is not the subject of a particular credit rating assigned by VIS Rating.

To the extent permitted by law, VIS Rating and its directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, licensors and suppliers disclaim liability for any direct or compensatory losses or damages caused to any person or entity, including but not limited to by any negligence (but excluding fraud, willful misconduct or any other type of liability that, for the avoidance of doubt, by law cannot be excluded) on the part of, or any contingency within or beyond the control of, VIS Rating or any of its directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, licensors or suppliers, arising from or in connection with the information contained herein or the use of or inability to use any such information.

NO WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AS TO THE ACCURACY, TIMELINESS, COMPLETENESS, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE OF ANY CREDIT RATING, ASSESSMENT, OTHER OPINION OR INFORMATION IS GIVEN OR MADE BY VIS RATING IN ANY FORM OR MANNER WHATSOEVER.

VIS RATING MAY MAKE MODIFICATIONS AND/OR CHANGES TO ITS PUBLICATION AT ANY TIME, FOR ANY REASON. HOWEVER, RATING UNDERTAKES NO OBLIGATION (NOR DOES IT INTEND) TO PUBLICLY SUPPLEMENT, UPDATE OR REVISE ITS PUBLICATION ON A GOING-FORWARD BASIS. YOU ASSUME THE SOLE RISK OF MAKING USE OF AND/OR RELYING ON VIS RATING'S ASSESSMENTS, OTHER OPINIONS, AND PUBLICATIONS.

VIS Rating maintains policies and procedures to address the independence of VIS Rating's credit ratings and credit rating processes. Information regarding, among others, entities holding more than 5% of the contributed charter capital of VIS Rating, any change to the shareholding ratios of entities holding more than 5% of the contributed charter capital of VIS Rating and a list of rated entities with a credit rating service charge accounting for over 5% of VIS Rating's total revenue from credit rating activities in the fiscal year prior to the time of information disclosure, are posted at https://visrating.com under the heading "Corporate Disclosure".